IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

ELERK, SUPREME COURT

Complainant,

By— Chief Deputy Clerk.

Case No. 81,903 48/379 [TFB Case No. 92-31,972 (19A)]

PHILLIP H. TAYLOR,

Respondent.

COMPLAINANT'S AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600 ATTORNEY NO. 123390

JOHN T. BERRY Staff Counsel The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600 ATTORNEY NO. 217395

AND

JAN WICHROWSKI Bar Counsel The Florida Bar 880 North Orange Avenue Suite 200 Orlando, Florida 32801-1085 (407) 425-5424 ATTORNEY NO. 381586

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Nineteenth Judicial Circuit Grievance Committee "A" voted to find probable cause on February 17, 1993. The bar filed its complaint on June 8, 1993. The referee was appointed on June 18, 1993. This case was consolidated with case number 81,379 for purposes of judicial economy.

The final hearing was held on December 12 and December 13, 1993. The referee issued his report on January 5, 1994, in which he recommended the respondent be found not guilty of all charges in both cases. The board considered the report at its February, 1994, meeting and voted to appeal the referee's conclusions of law and recommendation of not guilty only in case number 81,903. The bar served its petition for review on February 22, 1994.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The bar does not take issue with the referee's findings of fact, therefore, unless otherwise noted, the following facts are derived from the report of referee.

The respondent and Margaret Taylor divorced in 1972. that time they had two minor children. Pursuant to an agreement, the respondent was ordered by the Superior Court of the State of New Hampshire to pay \$450.00 per month in child support and maintain adequate medical insurance. At the time the respondent was a medical doctor. In the ensuing years, the respondent's career and business ventures faltered due to his substance abuse problems. He filed for personal bankruptcy. In 1984, he sought treatment for his addictions. He later entered and graduated from law school and was admitted to The Florida Bar in 1989. the time he was examined by the Board of Bar Examiners, his child support delinquency was made known to and considered by the After his admission, the respondent became employed by a board. large personal injury law firm as an associate.

On March 1, 1991, Margaret Taylor filed a petition in the New Hampshire court to hold the respondent in contempt for nonpayment of child support. On August 30, 1991, after a hearing on the merits, the court entered an order finding that at times between September, 1982, and June, 1990, the respondent had the

ability to pay the child support but without just cause failed to do so. The court rejected his argument that he and his former wife had orally agreed to a modification. The respondent was found in contempt of court and his former wife was awarded attorney's fees. No further sanctions were imposed. The respondent did not appeal the court's order and it remains outstanding.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The respondent has engaged in the contempt of court for failing to satisfy his personal child support obligations. The respondent continuously has ignored a 1972 court order requiring the payment of child support. In 1991, this finally resulted in his being found in contempt of court.

Rather than seeking modification of the child support order, or appealing the contempt order, the respondent simply has ignored the New Hampshire orders. Clearly, this demonstrates conduct prejudicial to the administration of justice. The referee incorrectly has dismissed this matter as a personal civil matter between the respondent and his ex-wife. An attorney has a duty either to obey orders of a tribunal or to seek appropriate Ignoring valid court orders is not an alternative for a member of The Florida Bar sworn to uphold the integrity of the judicial system. Whether the orders affect an attorney professionally or personally should not be distinguished.

By imposing discipline, this court will respond to the legislature's request that the Supreme Court of Florida adopt sanctions similar to 61.13015, Fla. Stat. (1993), and demonstrate that this court always has disciplined attorneys who violate orders of the court, whether related to personal child support or otherwise. This court already has in effect measures to impose

discipline on an attorney who engages in any action of contempt of court, including failure to satisfy personal child support obligations. A ninety-one (91) day suspension, requiring proof of rehabilitation from the factors which led to this situation, is appropriate.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

IT IS APPROPRIATE THAT THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA DISCIPLINE ATTORNEYS WHO FAIL TO OBEY COURT ORDERS.

Ch. 93-208, preamble, Laws of Fla., an act relating to child support, was enacted on July 1, 1993. This act provides for the Department of Professional Regulation to suspend or deny a professional license or certificate due to the licensee's delinquent child support obligations. The act further states that it is "...requesting the Florida Supreme Court to adopt an amendment to the rules regulating The Florida Bar to discipline attorneys who are delinquent or fail to pay child support..."

Ch. 93-208, preamble, Laws of Fla., Section 61.13015 provides that an obligee of child support may petition the court with jurisdiction over the child support order to suspend or deny a professional license of any delinquent obligor, upon exhaustion of all other available remedies.

The legislature has requested that similar sanctions be imposed upon attorneys. Clearly, this case provides this court with the opportunity to demonstrate to the legislature that the Supreme Court of Florida does in fact discipline any attorney who acts in the contempt of court.

The precedent in this state to date is The Florida Bar v.

Langston, 540 So. 2d 118 (Fla. 1989), where an attorney was held in contempt of court during his divorce proceedings due to his failure to pay temporary alimony and child support as ordered by He was jailed for approximately six weeks until he purged himself. In the final judgment of dissolution and various orders pertaining to the contempt, the trial judge found, that despite his ability to do so, the attorney failed to pay his temporary alimony and child support and also engaged in a calculated scheme to defraud his wife of alimony and prevent an equitable distribution of property. This court stated that the attorney's misconduct was neither excused nor satisfactorily explained by virtue of it arising in an acrimonious dissolution proceeding where the wife was represented by counsel. In defense of his position, the attorney pointed out that the misconduct occurred more than six years prior to the bar's case and in the interim he took steps to reestablish his credit and rebuild his business following bankruptcy. This court, however, was unswayed by his arguments and found his contemptuous conduct to be serious and "particularly egregious for a lawyer." The attorney received a ninety-one (91) day suspension.

An attorney was suspended for three years in The Florida Bar
v. Wishart, 543 So. 2d 1250 (Fla. 1989), as a result of the attorney's close personal and emotional involvement in the custody proceeding involving his step-granddaughter. The lawyer became involved in the divorce of his son and daughter-in-law.

The court entered a temporary order awarding custody to the daughter-in-law. The presiding judge then entered an order of recusal. Mr. Wishart took possession of the child and refused to return her to her mother, claiming that the recusal order had the effect of voiding the temporary custody order. A subsequent judge entered a temporary restraining order requiring Mr. Wishart to return the child which Mr. Wishart refused to obey. refused a direct order of the judge to reveal the child's He returned the child only after location and was jailed. assurances from the court that she would not be returned to her After the final judgment was entered in the dissolution mother. parents to share parental action. the court ordered the responsibility with primary residence being with the mother. Thereafter, Mr. Wishart again took the child and refused to return her to her mother. He refused to obey a writ of habeas corpus issued by the circuit court because he believed it was void. Throughout the Several appeals followed. proceedings, the attorney willfully and knowingly disobeyed and counseled others to disobey orders and judgments of the circuit He pursued a course of conduct knowingly designed to court. disrupt the orderly process of the judicial system and to serve his own ends, as he alone defined them. He failed to recognize the adverse impact his course of conduct had on the legal system which he took an oath to uphold. This court stated that if Mr. Wishart doubted the validity of the various court orders, his option was to challenge them legally rather than to ignore them.

The orders were presumed valid and he was obligated to obey them they were properly and successfully until such time as In mitigation, the court considered Mr. Wishart's challenged. close and emotional involvement in the personal proceeding.

It is well settled that actions in contempt of court by a member of The Florida Bar will not be tolerated by this court.

Rule 4-8.4(d), with which the respondent was charged, provides: "A lawyer shall not engage in conduct that is prejudicial to the administration of justice." The comment notes: "A lawyer may refuse to comply with an obligation imposed by law upon a good faith belief that no valid obligation exists. The provisions of rule 4-1.2(d) concerning a good faith challenge to the validity, scope, meaning, or application of the law apply to challenges of legal regulation of the practice of law."

In the case at hand, the respondent has made no challenges to the August 30, 1991, order of the New Hampshire court (Bar Ex. 6) and he remains in contempt for noncompliance.

Recently, in <u>The Florida Bar v. Rood</u>, 19 Fla. L. Weekly S51 (Fla. Jan. 20, 1994), this court suspended Mr. Rood for a number of violations where Mr. Rood was held in willful contempt of court. He was found to have violated rule 4-8.4 of the Rules

Regulating The Florida Bar. The court noted, "As to count two, a lawyer should never mislead the court on a proposed course of action or fail to keep a promise made to the court. There is evidence that Rood did both, even though he may not have intended to do so," at page 55.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. McKenzie</u>, 432 So. 2d 566 (Fla. 1983), this court publically reprimanded an attorney where he engaged in the contempt of court for failing to appear on behalf of his client at a hearing. Mr. McKenzie also was found guilty of additional rule violations for other conduct.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Neely</u>, 417 So. 2d 957 (Fla. 1982), this court disciplined Mr. Neely with a public reprimand and one year probation for his actions in failing to obey orders of the appellate court directing him to proceed in prosecuting his client's criminal appeal which resulted in his being adjudged in contempt.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Jackson</u>, 494 So. 2d 206 (Fla. 1986), an attorney challenged the referee's recommendation of guilt where he had been found to be in contempt of court for disobeying an order of the trial court requiring his appearance. Mr. Jackson claimed he did not obey the order for his appearance because the date was a religious holiday and the order infringed on his first amendment rights. This court stated:

Under the circumstances, we cannot conclude that Jackson's intentional defiance of the trial court's order to appear was a good faith test of the validity of that ruling. To hold otherwise would extend this exception to all cases in which a recalcitrant attorney claims a sincere belief in the invalidity of a ruling, regardless of the reasonableness of that belief. At page 207.

This rationale is directly on point here. The respondent failed to seek to judicially modify the standing obligation of the court which stemmed from 1972. He has failed to seek an appeal of the court's order holding him in contempt, or to take action to purge himself of the contempt. This action clearly demonstrates a disregard for the administration of justice.

Discipline is appropriate for such conduct.

POINT II

THE REFEREE'S CONCLUSION OF LAW THAT AN ATTORNEY SHOULD NOT BE DISCIPLINED FOR BEING HELD IN CONTEMPT OF COURT DUE TO A FAILURE TO PAY CHILD SUPPORT IS ERRONEOUS.

The bar takes no issue with referee's findings of fact because such findings are supported by the evidence, The Florida Bar v. Micks, 628 So. 2d 1104 (Fla. 1993). The referee's legal conclusions, however, are subject to a broader scope of review because the ultimate responsibility for entering the appropriate judgement rests with this court, The Florida Bar in re Inglis, 471 So. 2d 38 (Fla. 1985).

The bar submits the referee's conclusion that the bar is seeking to discipline the respondent for not paying his child support is erroneous. The situation here is that the respondent was found in contempt of court for actions which continued after his admission to The Florida Bar. The order of contempt was not issued until long after the respondent had been admitted to practice and therefore was not considered by the Board of Bar Examiners. As a result, there are no ex post facto considerations presented here.

With respect to the referee's concerns about ex post facto considerations, the misconduct with which the respondent is charged, being held in contempt of court, did not occur until after he was admitted to The Florida Bar and therefore was not

considered by the Board of Bar Examiners. It is true that the respondent's failure to pay his child support arose prior to his admission to the bar and continued thereafter. Simply because an attorney's ongoing activities commenced prior to admission to the bar does not immunize him from professional responsibility. For example, in The Florida Bar v. Pedrero, 538 So. 2d 842 (Fla. 1989), an attorney was disbarred for his involvement in drug importation. His involvement began approximately one year prior to his being admitted to the practice of law in Florida. arranged for a co-conspirator to obtain false identification so as to acquire credit cards and bank accounts which were used to purchase merchandise and receive cash advancements. These activities continued after the attorney's admission to The Florida Bar.

The bar submits it is appropriate to discipline an attorney for his contempt of court even if it involves a matter unrelated to the practice of law because an attorney is an officer of court and is held to a higher standard of care to avoid bringing the profession and the legal system into scorn and disrepute.

In the case at hand, it is noted that the order holding the respondent in contempt specifically found that respondent had the ability to pay, Bar Ex. 6. Therefore, respondent's attempt to engage the referee in a de novo review of his financial situation was irrelevant and inappropriate. Sanctions are warranted for

respondent's action in failing to obey a valid court order resulting in his being held in contempt.

The respondent has disobeyed an order requiring his payment of child support from 1972 to date, Bar Ex 1; Bar Ex. 2; Bar Ex. 6. He never has sought a modification of the child support order, T. pp. 103-104. He never has appealed the most recent order adjudicating him in contempt (T. pp. 104-105). Such actions are not appropriate to a member of The Florida Bar.

The referee characterizes this as a private civil matter between the respondent and his ex-wife. It is the position of the legislature of this state that nonpayment of child support is a matter which may be addressed, in other regulated professions, by the suspension or denial of professional licenses and certificates. The referee acknowledged this court's ability to make a similar determination in his report, ROR-A-8, Section III. As discussed above, this court clearly has the authority to discipline attorneys who engage in violations of orders of the court.

It is the position of The Florida Bar that the respondent's actions, resulting in his being held in contempt of court, and his continued failure to seek to purge himself of this condition, are grounds for disciplinary action.

POINT III

THE APPROPRIATE LEVEL OF DISCIPLINE FOR BEING HELD IN CONTEMPT OF COURT FOR FAILING TO ABIDE BY A CHILD SUPPORT OBLIGATION IS A NINETY-ONE (91) DAY SUSPENSION AND PAYMENT OF COSTS.

In accordance with the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar and Ch. 93-208, preamble, Laws of Fla., respondent should be suspended for ninety-one (91) days and thereafter until he demonstrates his fitness to practice law by satisfying his child support obligation.

The Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions support a suspension. Standard 6.2, abuse of the legal process, applies in cases where an attorney fails to obey an obligation under the rules of a tribunal. Standard 6.22 calls for a suspension when a lawyer knowingly violates a court order or rule, and causes injury or potential injury to a client or a party, or causes interference or potential interference with a legal proceeding. The language of the standard does not require the attorney to be acting in his professional capacity.

A ninety-one day suspension requires the attorney prove rehabilitation in order to gain reinstatement. Rehabilitation has been defined by this court as the attorney's restoration to previous rank, good standing, former rights, privileges or reputation, In re McGregor, 122 So. 2d 7, 9 (Fla. 1960). A

suspension with automatic reinstatement does not impose on the lawyer the responsibility of taking affirmative action during the suspension period to gain reinstatement, The Florida Bar v. Thompson, 500 So. 2d 1335 (Fla. 1986). Therefore, anything less than a ninety-one day suspension would allow the respondent to continue ignoring the New Hampshire court's order as he has done for the past two and one-half years. He would have the freedom to decide when, if ever, to purge himself of contempt. He would continue practicing law, thus demonstrating to the public that a lawyer, unlike other professionals, can continue to enjoy earning a substantial income and not suffer the adverse consequences other professionals face when found in contempt of court due to a failure to pay child support.

The respondent does not appear to appreciate the gravity of being held in contempt of court or his duty either to abide by court orders or seek modification through the appropriate means.

CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, The Florida Bar prays this Honorable Court will review the referee's findings of fact, conclusions of law and recommendation of not guilty and instead impose a discipline of a ninety-one (91) day suspension, requiring proof of rehabilitation prior to reinstatement and payment of costs, currently totalling \$1,786.11.