007

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID 1 WHITE 5//

CASE NO. 81,903 -81,379

CLERK, SUPREME COURT By

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

Chief Deputy Clark
[TFB Case No. 92-31,972 (19A)]

v.

PHILLIP H. TAYLOR, III,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT, PHILLIP H. TAYLOR, III'S, ANSWER BRIEF

By: G. Michael Keenan, Esquire Florida Bar No. 334839

G. MICHAEL KEENAN, P.A. Suite A, Second Floor 325 Clematis Street West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 (407) 835-3630 Telephone (407) 835-0194 Telefax

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

- I. The Referee's findings of fact and recommendation of not guilty is supported by substantial and competent evidence. It is undisputed that TAYLOR did not engage in any conduct involving fraud, dishonesty, deceit or which would adversely reflect upon his character as an attorney. At all times, TAYLOR made his child support payments in good faith and to the best of his ability. TAYLOR was not engaged in any conduct which would subject him to discipline.
- The Referee's application of existing law and ethical standards to TAYLOR was correct. The parties agreed and the Referee found no instance when an attorney had been disciplined for failure to pay child support in the absence of other egregious conduct. During TAYLOR'S admission process to the BAR, the BAR was made aware of the very facts surrounding TAYLOR'S support obligations which form the basis of the BAR'S attempt to discipline him presently. Based upon existing considerations and case law, the BAR admitted TAYLOR in November of 1989 without condition as to the child support obligation. Between November of 1989 and August of 1991, existing ethical considerations, disciplinary rules and case law have remained unchanged and the BAR cites to no additional conduct which would subject TAYLOR to discipline. The BAR'S attempt to discipline TAYLOR amounts to ex post facto punishment of TAYLOR. the BAR'S attempt to discipline TAYLOR based upon the retroactive application of some disciplinary rule, ethical consideration or

policy determination which the BAR is now asking this Court to enunciate is impermissible. Sufficient protections exist to discipline an attorney who through fraud, dishonesty, deceit or other unlawful or unethical means seeks to avoid any debt, including child support. TAYLOR has not engaged in such conduct.

III. In the event that the Referee's findings and recommendation of not guilty is not affirmed, the issue of discipline should be remanded to the Referee for consideration. Pursuant to the agreement of the parties, as accepted by the Referee, evidence of mitigation and discipline was not presented. Instead, the Referee stated that, in the event he found TAYLOR guilty, he would hold a subsequent hearing to take evidence on the issues of mitigation and discipline.

ARGUMENT

I. THE REFEREE'S FINDINGS OF FACT AND RECOMMENDATIONS ARE SUPPORTED BY COMPETENT EVIDENCE AND MUST BE AFFIRMED.

This court has consistently held that the findings of fact and recommendations of a referee must be accepted if they are supported by competent evidence. The Florida Bar v. Bajoczky, 558 So.2d 1022 (Fla. 1990). Although the court's scope of review is broader with respect to a referee's legal conclusions and punishment, they nonetheless come to the court with a presumption of correctness unless thy are clearly erroneous or not supported The Florida Bar v. Poplack, 559 So.2d 116, 118 by the evidence. (Fla. 1992); The Florida Bar v. Langston, 540 So.2d 118 (Fla. A party seeking to overturn a referee's findings and 1989). recommendations has the burden of showing that the referee's report is clearly erroneous or is lacking in evidentiary support. The Florida Bar v. Neu, 597 So.2d 266 (Fla. 1992); The Florida Bar v. Lipman, 497 So.2d 1165 (Fla. 1986). If the findings of the referee are supported by competent, substantial evidence, the court is precluded from reweighing the evidence or substituting its judgment for that of the referee. The Florida Bar v. Hooper, 509 So.2d 289 (Fla. 1987).

The BAR'S argument before the Referee and this Court is simple - because TAYLOR failed to pay a private debt, to wit child support, he is subject to discipline. Though simplistic, the BAR'S position is not supported by the existing Professional Rules of Conduct, Rules of Discipline, or case law. As the

Referee correctly concluded, mere failure to pay child support or any private debt without fraud, deceit, dishonesty or other conduct reflecting upon an attorney's fitness to practice law does not render him subject to sanctions.

This Court has recognized that an attorney's conduct in his personal life, as opposed to his professional life, can subject him to discipline. The Florida Bar v. Bennett, 267 So.2d 481 (Fla. 1973); The Florida Bar v. Clements, 131 So.2d 198 (Fla. 1961). However, in order to subject an attorney to discipline, the attorney's personal conduct must have some nexus to or be connected with his fitness to practice law. Rule 4-8.4(1), Rules Regulating the Florida Bar. As the comment to the aforedescribed Rule provides:

Many kinds of illegal conduct reflect adversely on fitness to practice law, such as offenses involving fraud and the offense of willful failure to file an income tax return. However, some kinds of offense carry no such Traditionally, the distinction implication. was drawn in terms of offenses involving "moral turpitude." That concept can be construed to include offenses concerning some personal matters of morality, such adultery and comparable offenses, that have no specific connection to fitness for the practice of law. Although a lawyer is personally answerable to the entire criminal law, a lawyer should be professionally answerable only for offenses that indicate lack of those characteristics relevant to law practice. Offenses involving violence, dishonesty, or breach of trust or serious interferences with the administration of justice are in that category. A pattern of repeated offenses, even ones of minor significance when considered separately, can indicate indifference to legal obligation.

See, Comment to Rule 4-8.4(i), Rules Regulating The Florida Bar.

In any event, an attorney will not be disciplined for misconduct outside of his professional capacity unless such misconduct is of a serious nature, and tends to show him to be an unfit person to be an attorney.

7 CJS, Attorney & Client, sec. 75, p. 974:

Consistent with the settled principle above, this Court has refused to impose discipline for an attorney to vindicate purely personal interests. As this Court set forth in <a href="https://doi.org/10.1001/jhep.1001/j

As has been recognized for many years, [d]isciplinary proceedings against attorneys are instituted in the public interest and to preserve the purity of the courts. private rights except those of the accused attorney are involved. Application of Harper, 84 So.2d 700, 702 (Fla. 1956); The Florida Bar v. Winn, 208 So.2d 809, 810-11 (Fla., cert. denied, 393 U.S. 914 (1968); In Re: Keenan, 287 Mass. 577, 583, 192 N.E. 65, 68 (1934). <u>See</u>, <u>also</u>, <u>State ex rel. Kehoe v.</u> McRae, 49 Fla. 389, 394-95, 38 So. 605, 607 (1905)(disbarment proceedings are designed as a penalty or punishment for any malfeasance or dereliction of duty by and attorney, but are solely for the purpose of purging the role of legal practitioners for an unworthy or disreputable member).

Further, both this Court, and the BAR itself, have recognized that disciplinary proceedings are not appropriate in cases which do not involve misrepresentation, dishonesty, deceit, or fraudulent procurement and which involve a dispute over an attorney's failure to pay a personal debt. The Florida Bar v. Cook, 567 So.2d 1379 (Fla. 1990).

In the case before the Court, the BAR admits that the Referee's factual findings that TAYLOR was not involved in any misrepresentation, dishonesty, deceit, or fraudulent conduct are

The BAR called no witnesses to contradict any testimony correct. or evidence offered by TAYLOR before the Referee. The record is replete with numerous examples that TAYLOR, since commencing recovery from alcoholism and addiction in December of 1984, met his support obligations to all his children including those to TAYLOR made child support payments to Phillip and Tracy. Margaret Taylor and Phillip and Tracy in 1983, 1984, 1985, 1986, In 1989, TAYLOR believed he had almost 1987, 1988 and 1989. erased any child support delinquency. While refusing to give him credit, the New Hampshire COurt acknowledged the payments made by TAYLOR to Margaret Taylor, Phillip and Tracy through 1989. New Hampshire Court did not make any specific finding as to TAYLOR'S ability to pay at any specific time between 1982 and 1990 and most importantly did not find that TAYLOR willfully or intentionally disobeyed any Order of the Court or obligation to pay child support. Neither the BAR nor the New Hampshire Court point to any dishonest, deceitful, illegal, fraudulent or When the BAR admitted TAYLOR in unethical conduct by TAYLOR. November of 1989 without any condition as to his child support obligation it confirmed TAYLOR'S fitness to practice law. has done nothing since then to prove the BAR was in error.

The BAR cites two cases for the proposition that this Court has previously disciplined attorney's held in contempt in domestic relations cases: The Florida Bar v. Langston, 540 So.2d 118 (Fla. 1989) and The Florida Bar v. Wishart, 543 So.2d 1250 (Fla. 1989). Both cases involve fraud, deceit, dishonesty and

egregious conduct distinguishable from TAYLOR.

In <u>Langston</u>, an attorney engaged in perjury and entered into a scheme to defraud himself and the court by concealing marital assets. The BAR presented no evidence of perjury or fraudulent conduct and, in fact, took no issue with the Referee's finding that none existed.

Similarly, in <u>Wishart</u>, an attorney, the step-grandfather of a child involved in a custody proceeding, consistently disobeyed court orders to return the child to her mother due to a close emotional involvement in the case and with the minor child. In finding the attorney guilty, the court recognized that his close, personal involvement in the case and his continuous disobedience of directions from the court impaired his professional judgment thus, rendering him unfit for the practice of law. In the instant case, the BAR, again, presented no evidence that TAYLOR deliberately or wilfully disobeyed any direction from the Court or that his professional judgment was impaired. Moreover, there was no such finding by the New Hampshire Court in its August, 1991 Order.

The cases relied upon by the BAR to support its argument that TAYLOR should be disciplined because the New Hampshire Court's Order was one of contempt are equally inapplicable. Those cases involve conduct undertaken by attorneys in their professional as opposed to private lives and/or involve fraud, dishonesty, deceit or other conduct not present here. Illustratively, in The Florida Bar v. Rood, 19 Fla. L. Weekly S51

(Fla. Jan. 20, 1994), an attorney who had previously been suspended for two years was found guilty of charging an excessive fee and failing to provide a closing statement to his clients. The referee also found him guilty of allowing a letter of credit to expire and of making a false statement to pay a judgment along with his being held in contempt of court. Here, TAYLOR did not make any false promises to Margaret Taylor or the Court. TAYLOR did not mislead Margaret Taylor or his children, the New Hampshire Court, or the BAR in connection with his admission to the BAR and the BAR has not proven or suggested otherwise.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. McKenzie</u>, 432 So.2d 566 (Fla. 1983), an attorney was disciplined for failure to appear at a court hearing on behalf of his client, refusing to return funds to a client and obtaining a default judgment despite being requested by out of state counsel to negotiate a settlement or permit his client to obtain in-state counsel. TAYLOR has not engaged in conduct even remotely similar to that in <u>McKenzie</u> and the BAR has not proven otherwise.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Neely</u>, 417 So.2d 957 (Fla. 1982), an attorney was disciplined for failing to obey <u>numerous</u> orders of an appellate court to prosecute a criminal appeal by filing a brief. The BAR did not charge TAYLOR with the willful, intentional or continual disobedience of a Court Order while acting in his professional capacity or otherwise. The uncontroverted evidence is to the contrary. TAYLOR has continuously made an effort to meet his child support obligations

and the BAR so found when it admitted him to practice in 1989.

Lastly, in <u>The Florida Bar v. Jackson</u>, 494 So.2d 206 (Fla. 1986), an attorney was disciplined for his intentional defiance of a court order directing him to appear in court on a religious holiday. Again, other than presenting a certified copy of the New Hampshire Order and the Affidavit of Margaret Taylor, the BAR called no witnesses and presented no evidence to establish that TAYLOR intentionally, wilfully or continuously disobeyed a specific direction of the Court while acting in his capacity as an attorney. The BAR concedes that the finding and recommendations of the Referee are correct.

The cases cited by the BAR involve conduct distinguishable and inapposite to TAYLOR'S and do not compel a reversal of the finding of not guilty by the Referee.

II. THE BAR CANNOT DISCIPLINE TAYLOR FOR VIOLATION OF RULES AND REGULATIONS YET TO BE PROMULGATED.

Although the Rules of Professional Conduct contain no such provision, the BAR cites to recent legislation which gives the Department of Professional Regulation authority to suspend professional licenses in limited instances to support its position that TAYLOR must be disciplined. Section 61.13015, Florida Statutes (1993). The BAR'S argument fails for many reasons.

This Court, and not the legislature, has exclusive jurisdiction and authority to enact rules governing the practice

of law. In enacting rules and regulations governing attorneys, this Court has held that rules will be effective upon the members of the BAR when the opinions of the Supreme Court approving same become final. The court has held that an attorney cannot be found guilty of violating a rule of professional conduct which was not enacted until after the alleged misconduct occurred. The Florida Bar v. Trinkle, 580 So.2d 157, 159 (Fla. 1991). This Court's holding is consistent with the settled rule of statutory construction that statutes and rules interfering with vested rights or which create new obligations will not be given retroactive effect. Young v. Altenhaus, 472 So.2d 1152, 1159 (Fla. 1985). In the case before this Court, the BAR, recognizing that the Referee correctly applied existing law to TAYLOR, now asks this Court to, in effect, create a new rule of discipline and professional conduct requiring suspension if an attorney fails to pay child support and then, retroactively apply it to TAYLOR. Yet, the BAR has not and is unable to cite any authority for this proposition because to do so is impermissible as a matter of law. A party must know the rules before he can be charged with violating them.

Even were this Court to look to recent legislation governing child support and license suspensions for guidance, these statutes do not make suspension automatic upon the failure to pay child support. A review of the recent legislation reveals that the legislature has enacted a procedure concluding with a court hearing where suspension of license may be denied for failure to

pay child support if suspension would result in irreparable harm to the obligor or employee, would not accomplish the objective of collecting the delinquency, where the obligor has demonstrated that he has made a good faith effort to reach an agreement with the obligee, or if there is an alternative remedy available to the obligee which is likely to accomplish the objective of collecting the delinquency. Section 61.13015(3)(a) and (b), Florida Statutes (1993). In the instant case, there is ample evidence in the record to conclude that (1) TAYLOR made a good faith effort to reach an agreement with Margaret concerning the child support delinquency; (2) that suspension of TAYLOR'S license to practice law would cause irreparable harm to him, his current children, as well as Kelly and Megan by denying him his ability to earn a living and will frustrate the objective of collecting the delinquency. Moreover, since the New Hampshire Order has been found to be a civil judgment, Margaret Taylor, as the obligee, has available to her all enforcement and collection remedies available in Florida. In this case, there is no need for the BAR to become a collection agency for private parties and their attempts to collect child support arrearages. Although the BAR did not and could not charge TAYLOR with a violation of Section 61.13015, Florida Statutes nor did it raise the issue before the Referee, the recently enacted legislation provides no support for its position that an attorney's failure to pay child support must result in his discipline.

III. DISCIPLINE - REMAND.

During the final hearing of these consolidated actions, BAR counsel and counsel for TAYLOR stipulated that the issue of mitigation and discipline would be reserved until the Referee made his recommendations. This stipulation was approved by the Court. (See, TR-123-129; Dec. 13, 1993, vol. II). Thus, no evidence of mitigation or discipline was presented by the BAR or TAYLOR to the Referee.

In determining discipline, a judgment must be fair to society, must be fair to the attorney, and must be sufficient to deter attorneys from similar conduct. The Florida Bar v. Poplack, supra, 599 So.2d 116. Thus, the appropriate level of discipline must be weighed in light of aggravating or mitigating circumstances presented by the parties. The Florida Bar v. Farbstein, 570 So.2d 933, 936 (Fla. 1990). In the instant case, were the Referee's finding of not guilty be reversed, TAYLOR, as well as the BAR, should be afforded an opportunity to present evidence or mitigation and appropriate discipline, if any, be imposed.

CONCLUSION

Contrary to the mischaracterization of the BAR, TAYLOR does not maintain that child support should not be paid. To the contrary, the uncontradicted evidence of this case demonstrates that TAYLOR has placed his child support obligations to his now emancipated children, Phillip and Tracy, to his minor children, Megan and Kelly, and to his three infant children, Zachary, Courtney and Jessica ahead of his other obligations. TAYLOR has always appreciated and has attempted to fulfill his child support obligations to all of his children despite his alcoholism and addiction and its devastating effect upon him personally and financially. The BAR understood and recognized this characteristic of TAYLOR when it admitted him in November of 1989 without condition as to the issue of child support.

The issues before this Court for review are simple and crystallized. First, does substantial and competent evidence support the Referee's findings of fact and recommendation that TAYLOR did not engage in conduct involving fraud, deceit, dishonesty, or which would otherwise adversely reflect upon his character and ability to practice law? As was the case in November of 1989, this question must now be answered in the affirmative. The BAR presented no evidence, not a single witness, to even hint that TAYLOR was in any way unfit to practice law.

Secondly, were the Referee's conclusions of law and finding of not guilty based upon the correct consideration and

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